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Nijo-jo Castle Painting Gallery Exhibition in 2024 “Age of Nijo-rikyu Imperial Villa” Series

The original murals of the Ninomaru-goten Palace at Nijo-jo castle were created by Kano-school artists during major
renovation of the castle in 1626, in preparation for a visit by Emperor Gomizunoo (1596-1680). This year's exhibitions,
entitled "Age of Nijo-rikyu Imperial Villa"Series, focus on the Imperial Villa period of Nijo-jo castle and introduce the roles

and situations around the murals of Ninomaru-goten Palace at the time.

Nijo-jo Castle Painting Gallery; Spring Exhibition in 2024

Ohiroma of Nijo-rikyu Imperial Villa: Ichi-no-ma (First Room) of the Ohiroma

Nijo-jo Castle was built in 1603 by order of Tokugawa leyasu as a place for the shogun to stay and hold rituals and other
events while in Kyoto. Later, in preparation for a visit from Emperor Gomizunoo in 1626, the Ninomaru-goten Palace
and other castle buildings underwent major repairs. After the Meiji Restoration, the castle was subject to many changes,
including being placed under the control of the Daijokandai (Office of the Great Council of State) and the Kyoto Prefectural
Government, before it became a villa for the imperial family and was renamed “Nijo-rikyu” in 1884. In 1939, the
responsibility for managing Nijo-rikyu imperial Villa was transferred to the Kyoto City municipality, which has since been

managing the villa until today.

Ninomaru-goten Palace during the age of Nijo-rikyu imperial Villa

Around the end of the Edo period, Nijo-jo Castle saw a period of turbulence, serving as a place for Tokugawa Yoshinobu,
the last Tokugawa shogun, to declare his intention to return political power to the Emperor. Ninomaru-goten Palace in
particular also played a variety of roles after the Meiji Restoration. After Nijo-jo Castle became Nijo-rikyu Villa, the
Ministry of the Imperial Household carried out repairs to Ninomaru-goten Palace, which were completed in 1886. The
repairs included laying carpets to make the building look suitable for an imperial villa. From 1897, the old murals in
corridors and other areas were replaced with new ones.

From 1893 to 1894, the Katsuranomiya-goten Palace, the palace of the Katsuranomiya family located to the north of the
Kyoto Imperial Palace, was relocated to the then vacant Honmaru area and bacame Honmaru-goten Palace, resulting in Nijo-
rikyu as a imperial villa with two buildings: Honmaru-goten Palace and Ninomaru-goten Palace.

Honmaru-goten Palace was used as an accommodation facility for the imperial family, and Crown Prince Yoshihito (later
Emperor Taisho) and Crown Prince Hirohito (later Emperor Showa) often stayed there. Meanwhile, Ninomaru-goten Palace
was not only visited by the crown princes during their stays in Kyoto but was also sometimes used as a place for them to
meet important people in Kyoto or as a resting place for distinguished guests from abroad. For the enthronement ceremony
of Emperor Taisho in 1915, a banquet hall was set up in the current Seiryuen area.

When a crown prince visited Nijo-rikyul imperial Villa, hundreds of ordinary people sometimes gathered in front of the

Higashi-otemon Gate to catch a glimpse of him.

Murals of the Ohiroma

During the Edo period (1603-1867), Nijo-jo Castle was a castle of the Tokugawa shogunate, and the Ohiroma building
there, the most formal place designed to display the shogun’s power, served as a place for official meetings between the
Tokugawa shogun and visitors. For this purpose, various special details were added to the Ohiroma. One example is the
double height coffered ceiling of the Ichi-no-ma (First Room) and its floor being raised approximately 20 centimeters higher
than the Ni-no-ma (Second Room). In addition to the architectural features, the motifs and styles of the murals there were
also designed especially to serve the purpose of the building.

The murals in the First and Second Rooms were painted by Kano Tan’yu. On all sides of the continuous space of the two
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rooms are murals of pine trees, which are thought to have been intended to embody the Tokugawa Shogunate’s wishes for
eternal prosperity. Golden pheasants, another motif of the murals, were so rare in Edo-period Japan that they were sometimes
offered as gifts to those in power. The entire image of multiple huge pine trees is contained in the surface covered with a
ground of gold leaf without any depictions of their roots on the ground or any other motifs, such as golden clouds, hiding
the trees. Therefore, the forms of the pine trees clearly stand out. In the large alcove behind the shogun, a curved pine tree
is depicted to look like an umbrella over the head of the shogun, sitting on the upper floor, while on the eastern and western
sides, between which the alcove is, are pine branches and leaves inclining toward the shogun. This composition strongly

impressed the viewer with the majesty of the shogun seated in the center.

Meiji-era repairs to the murals and the Ohiroma

After Nijo-jo Castle turned into Nijo-rikyu Villa, Ninomaru-goten Palace became a place for the imperial family and
foreign dignitaries. Many of the murals there, mainly severely damaged ones along the corridors were repainted and replaced
from around 1897. This project was supervised by Yamataka Nobuakira of the Kyoto Imperial Museum, who oversaw the
decoration of Meiji-kyuden Palace in 1884, with then active painters repainting those murals while referring to the designs
of treasures housed in the Shosoin Repository.

In 1900, the ceiling paintings of the corridor in the Ohiroma were repainted. Although the 250 ceiling paintings were
initially planned to be repainted and installed on the coffered ceiling of the corridor, Crown Prince Yoshihito visited the
building when only 120 of the 250 ceiling paintings had been completed. However, according to the Hinode Shimbun
newspaper, the predecessor of the current Kyoto Shimbun, the prince saw those paintings and said, “They look beautiful and
elegant.”

Around the same time, the murals above the nageshi along the corridor in the Ohiroma were also repainted to depict
clouds and haze with three kinds of metal leaf powders with metal leaf strips of various sizes and forms placed inside the

clouds, as well as a wave pattern created with moriage gofun.

This project to renew the murals along the corridor, which was implemented after the premises became an imperial villa,
resulted in the coexistence of murals dating back to 1626 and murals created in the Meiji era in Ninomaru-goten Palace. The
Ohiroma and its corridor thus became a place where visitors could feel a kind of fusion of old and new, the new breath of the
Meiji era as they walked through the corridor and the atmosphere of the Edo period when entering the Ohiroma.

(Junko Furiya)

Nijo-jo Castle Painting Gallery; Summer Exhibition in 2024
Repurposed Murals : Shikidai-no-ma

After 1871, Nijo-jo Castle, which was used as a facility for the Kyoto Prefectural Government and the army, became “Nijo
Imperial Villa” under the jurisdiction of the Imperial Household Ministry in 1884. In response, large-scale repairs were
carried out over two years from the following year. The Ninomaru-goten Palace was also decorated to be suitable as a palace
of the Imperial Family. This exhibition introduces mural repair at that time and murals that have been repaired and restored

with alterations from their original form.

Nijo Imperial Villa major repairs and murals

After 1634, facilities such as utility buildings at Ninomaru-goten Palace were demolished since the shogun, who was the
owner, never visited the palace. During the turbulent late Edo period, Ninomaru-goten Palace became a political arena again,
but by that time, some of the murals created in 1626 had been lost or removed due to damage. After the Meiji Restoration,

Kyoto Prefecture used the Ninomaru-goten Palace as a government building, so the deterioration of the murals continued.
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The repair of the murals by master mounters began around January 1886. The repair specification prepared by the Imperial
Household Ministry stated that when repairing the missing parts of the gold paper, the remaining “old gold leaf (residue
of the original gold leaf)” and “new old gold leaf (old color applied to new gold leaf)” owned by the Imperial Household
Ministry should be used. In fact, the Imperial Household Ministry owned not only gold leaf, but also old murals collected
from various sources. The “Nijo Imperial Villa Delivery Dossier,” created by Kyoto Prefecture in 1885 for the transfer of
Nijo Imperial Villa from the Kyoto Prefectural Government to the Imperial Household Ministry, contains a list of old murals
that were removed from the walls and fixtures at that time and stored flat. This document includes removed murals that
were produced in the Kan’ei period, murals of unknown origin, and murals that were originally created for Imperial Palace
buildings. Of these, it is known from previous research that murals that were not produced in the Kan’ei period were used in

the repairs at that time.

Renovated Kacho-zu (Flowers and Birds)

It is known from historical sources that the koshi-shoji (paper sliding doors with waist-high wooden panels on the
bottoms) in the Shikidai-no-ma originally depicted spring and summer flowers and a waterfront, but these features have
been lost. The current Kacho-zu is one of the Meiji period renovations of a mural that was not produced in the Kan’ei period.
Unfortunately, it is not clear which one of the murals in the list mentioned above this mural is. There is a possibility that this
mural is not on the list.

So, what were the murals like before the renovations? In this Kacho-zu, you can see unnatural joints in the image. If you
look closely at these parts, you can see that, in order to reduce this unnaturalness, additional drawings and gold dust have
been added later and there are regular traces where the paper has been joined. At that time, large sheets of paper could not be
produced, so large screens such as murals and folding screen paintings were made up of several sheets of paper. Normally,
there is regularity in the way the paper is joined. When these joins are irregular, it means that something has happened to
the mural or folding screen painting. In many cases, as in this Kacho-zu, it means that the original image has been cut and
rearranged. In this Kacho-zu, there are many places where the vertical paper joints are irregular, and misalignments in the
horizontal paper joints can also be seen in multiple places. If the vertical paper joints that show that the pattern was not
connected originally are detached and the horizontal paper joints are arranged so that there is no misalignment, this mural
can be restored into two groups: a spring Kacho-zu centered on an Asiatic apple tree and an autumn Kacho-zu featuring wild
geese and ducks. For the part depicting the Asiatic apple tree, it can be found from the traces of the catches and hanging
brackets(such as the second one from the right on the front) that it was originally a fusuma painting. In addition, on the
autumn Kacho-zu, there are also catch marks on the left and right sides below the paper joint part of the second koshi-shoji
from the left, which is displayed on the left wall facing the exhibition room.

However, each restored mural is damaged at both ends. It is believed that the screens continued further to the left and
right. In fact, there are screens in other palace rooms that seem to be continuations of both the spring and autumn murals.
The group of thin bamboos gently drawn on the left end of the spring Kacho-zu follows the pattern on the eastern wall of the
Tozamurai Fuyo-no-ma. The trees depicted on the bottom left of the autumn Kacho-zu are covered with cut foil that has been
applied afterwards, and trees that seem to follow them are depicted on images attached to the south side nageshi (horizontal

beams) in the Kuroshoin Chodai-no-ma.

Matsu-zu (Pine) and color repair

An important aspect of the mural repairs at Nijo Imperial Villa is the color repair by painters. According to the “Nijo
Imperial Villa Repair Work Record Diary” (hereinafter referred to as “Diary”), a total of 14 painters participated from their
hiring on November 15, 1885 until the completion on August 25, 1886. These included Tosa Mitsutake (1844-1916), a

member of the Tosa family who served as the Edokoro-azukari of the Imperial Court for multiple generations in the Edo



period, and professional painters who followed the lineage of the Maruyama school and the Shijo school. However, it can
be seen from the “Diary” and “Kyoto Hinode Shimbun” articles at the time that Imperial Household Ministry staff from the
department that managed the palace who had a sense of painting were also engaged. In addition, according to a newspaper
article published about a month before the repairs were completed, the ceiling paintings were repaired (color repair) first,
and although the fusuma sliding doors and other areas were started later, it was difficult to paint them so that the missing
parts blended in with the original pictures, and there were not enough days or manpower to complete the repairs. As a result,
in the repairs at that time, the missing parts were painted as new parts and the faded parts were repainted. The vivid colors
of the pine leaves and waterfront that you are currently viewing are the colors that were added during these repairs. Many of
the repaired pine leaves were repainted without following the original lines of the pine leaves, and the characteristics of the
added lines differ depending on the screen, so it can be seen that the repairs were done in a short period of time using a large
number of painters to finish up the work.

Although this method and approach are far removed from current mural repairs, at that time, the main priority was to
improve the appearance of the imperial villa quickly.

(Naoko Matsumoto)

Nijo-jo Castle Painting Gallery: Fall Exhibition in 2024

From Wild Ginger to Chrysanthemums: Shiroshoin Ichi-no-ma (First Room), Ni-no-ma (Second
Room)

Nijo-jo Castle becomes Nijo Imperial Villa

In Keicho 8 (1603), Nijo-jo Castle was founded by Tokugawa leyasu (1543-1616), who established the Edo Shogunate,
and in Kan’ei 3 (1626), it underwent major renovations including westward expansion of the castle area for the Imperial visit
of Emperor Gomizunoo (1596-1680). In October of Keio 3 (1867), the 15th Shogun Yoshinobu (1837-1913) expressed his
intention to return political power to the Imperial Court in Ninomaru-goten Palace, and with the Court’s acceptance, the 250-
year era of the Tokugawa Shogunate came to an end.

In Meiji 17 (1884), Nijo-jo Castle became an Imperial villa, a separate residence for the Emperor, and its name was
changed to Nijo Imperial Villa. This changed the master from the Tokugawa family to the Emperor. Through the 30s of the
same period (around1900), Ninomaru-goten Palace was repaired by the Imperial Household Ministry to make it suitable as
an Imperial palace. The decorative metal fittings of the Tokugawa family crest “Mitsuba-Aoi” (Wild Ginger) on the gables
of the Ninomaru-goten Palace which boasted an overwhelming size and expressed the castle’s master, were changed to the
Imperial family crest “chrysanthemum,” symbolically showing the change of power to those who visited Nijo-jo Castle.

Furthermore, the palace of the Katsuranomiya family (Katsuranomiya-goten Palace) that was north of Kyoto Imperial
Palace was relocated to the Honmaru of Nijo Imperial Villa in Meiji 27 (1894) and became Honmaru-goten Palace.
Accompanying this, a carriageway was developed from in front of the Karamon gate, crossing the inner moat via the West
Bridge, and wells and toilets were secured around the palace. The Honmaru-goten Palace was prepared to be the center of

Nijo Imperial Villa.

Shiroshoin of Nijo Imperial Villa

Shiroshoin, located in the innermost part of Ninomaru-goten Palace, was called the “Goza-no-ma” during the Edo period
and was used as the Shogun’s living quarters. Therefore, unlike the other two audience halls, Ohiroma and Kuroshoin,
fusuma sliding doors are fitted at the border between the upper and lower sections. This makes the First Room which is the
upper section, a separate 15-tatami room.

After becoming Nijo Imperial Villa, Shiroshoin became the living quarters of the Emperor, the new master. Throughout

the Ninomaru-goten Palace, the Mitsuba-Aoi crest of the former masters, the Tokugawa family, was scattered on decorative
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metal fittings, and the Shiroshoin was decorated similarly. However, the Mitsuba-Aoi was not suitable for the Shiroshoin
where the new master, the Emperor, would relax comfortably. Therefore, in preparation for welcoming Emperor Meiji, in
Meiji 19 (1886), only in the Shiroshoin, the Mitsuba-Aoi on the corner metal fittings of the coffered ceiling and the edge
metal fittings of the chodaigamae decorative doors were changed to chrysanthemum by covering or replacing them. Also,
although the exact date is unknown, the drawer pulls on the fusuma sliding doors were replaced with ones bearing the
chrysanthemum crest.

At this time, care was taken to ensure that the size of the chrysanthemum metal fittings matched that of the Mitsuba-Aoi.
Even now, we can confirm that some of these chrysanthemum metal fittings that were attached at that time seamlessly hide
the Mitsuba-Aoi.

The Shiroshoin welcomed Emperor Meiji the next year, Meiji 20 (1887).

Murals in the First and Second Rooms of Shiroshoin

Unlike the gold-leafed murals that adorn other buildings, the Shiroshoin is decorated with ink wash murals. Using a
technique called bokuga tansai, which involves partial coloring, a lakeside landscape is depicted from an overhead view,
creating a calm atmosphere. This lake is the actual West Lake, a famous place in Zhejiang Province, China, and West Lake
paintings have been a favored subject of ink wash paintings in Japan since the Muromachi period, representing one of the
most representative subjects. Ink wash sansui- zu (Chinese-style landscape) paintings are often painted in the most formal
places, and it is thought that the West Lake scene was painted in response to the formality of the First and Second Rooms of
the Shiroshoin.

A snow landscape is painted on the odoko (large alcove) (displayed at the front) of the First Room. Snow is expressed by
sweeping thin ink in the background and leaving the base exposed. In the far right of the picture, a rocky mountain with a
temple pagoda and pavilion stands tall, and in the center of the picture, a watchtower by the water is depicted. Inside, two
literati are seated in front of a screen painted with a sansui-zu, looking out over the wide lake surface.

On the tobusuma sliding door next to the tsukeshoin (built-in table) (displayed on the left), a cliff by the water is shown in
the center, with houses surrounded by trees above, and a person sitting on a covered platform under pine trees by the water,
catching fish.

On the fusuma sliding doors bordering the Second Room (displayed on the left), two noble figures accompanied by a
child advancing next to a pavilion and a tower gate surrounded by a waterside grove are depicted in the foreground, while a
pavilion visible between mountain shadows and a grove is depicted in the background. We can see what appears to be the Su
Causeway or the Bai Causeway, characteristic causeways of West Lake.

On the south side of the Second Room (displayed on the right), a mansion surrounded by willows is depicted. To the right
on the water surface, there is a boat carrying a literati heading towards the mansion, and in the courtyard of the mansion, a
man who appears to be the host is seen welcoming guests, while in front of the gate, a woman holding a baby and a child can
be seen.

On the west side of the Second Room (displayed on the right), small figures are drawn into the landscape with a pavilion
and bridge. On the bridge, a monk-like figure is riding an ox, and on the tobusuma sliding door to the left, a noble figure and
an attendant resting in a gazebo are depicted.

Except for the chigaidana (staggered shelves), every scene has water at the bottom, creating a view that spreads
throughout the room as if looking at the shore from a boat floating on the lake.

Also, on the small fusuma sliding doors above the chigaidana (displayed at the front), Nadeshiko(Pinks) are painted. It is
thought that at some point, these small fusuma sliding doors were reversed so that the back side became the front, and they
were remounted.

The painter of these murals is said to be Kano Naganobu (1577-1654).
(Junko Furiya)
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Nijo-jo Castle Painting Gallery: Winter Exhibition in 2024
Murals from the Imperial Palace: Chodai-no-ma of the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin

Nijo-jo Castle, built in 1603 by Tokugawa leyasu(1543-1616), the first shogun of the Edo shogunate, was renovated
in preparation for Emperor Gomizunoo’s visit in 1626. The Honmaru area was newly established, and the Ninomaru-
goten Palace was renovated with new murals created for its interior. After the shogunate came to an end in 1867, Nijo-jo
Castle came under the ownership of the Meiji government. Subsequently, from 1884 until it was bestowed to Kyoto City
in 1939, Nijo-jo Castle served as an imperial villa known as “Nijo Imperial Villa.” During this period, the palace of the
Katsuranomiya family was relocated to the Honmaru area, and decorative metal fittings on places such as the Ninomaru-
goten Palace were changed from the wild ginger crest to the chrysanthemum crest, among other changes to make it suitable
as an imperial villa. Additionally, some murals that were originally created for different locations were installed in parts
of the Ninomaru-goten Palace. In this exhibition, the murals in the Chodai-no-ma of both the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin

among these murals are introduced.

The Function of the Chodai-no-ma and Murals from the Kanei Period (1624-1644)

In the Ichi-no-ma (First Rooms) of both the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin of the Ninomaru-goten Palace, there are
chodaibusuma decorative sliding doors, one of the elements of Shoin-zukuri style, and when they are opened, a room called
the Chodai-no-ma appears. Although no historical documents have been found, there is a theory that this room served as a
kind of antechamber through which the shogun would enter the First Room. According to historical documents, during the
Edo period (1603-1868), the Chodai-no-ma of both the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin were decorated with murals of birds and
flowers. However, currently, these bird and flower murals remain only on the back of four chodaibusuma sliding doors in
both the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin (not on display) and two tobusuma sliding doors in the Ohiroma (the second and third
panels from the east below the nageshi [horizontal beam] in the exhibition room front), while the other fixtures and walls

are covered with different murals as described below.

Famous Places, Genre Themes, and Birds and Flowers

Among the murals in the Chodai-no-ma of the Ohiroma, the Tatsuta Fuzoku-zu (Tatsuta Genre Theme) below the nageshi
(first panel from the east in the exhibition room front, five panels on the east side) depicts the Tatsuta River stream known for
autumn leaves, the mountain ranges, tea houses and houses at the foot of the mountains, and people visiting or living there.
At the Tatsuta River stream, noble figures wearing eboshi caps can be seen admiring the autumn leaves floating on the river.
The Musashino-zu above the nageshi (first and second panels from the east in the exhibition room front, five panels on the
east side) depicts an autumn scene of Musashino fields with a full moon floating above a field of autumn grasses and trailing
mist.

The murals in the Chodai-no-ma of the Kuroshoin are divided into three themes: Meisho Fuzoku-zu (Famous Places and
Genre Themes), Matsuyanagi Shirasagi-zu (Pine Trees, Willows and White Herons), and Akikusa-zu (Autumn Grasses).
Among these, the Meisho Fuzoku-zu depict the landscapes of Mount Fuji (below the nageshi on two panels on the west side
of the exhibition room front), Miho no Matsubara (below the nageshi on the first to fourth panels from the north on the west
side), Wakanoura with Tamatsushima-jinja Shrine dedicated to the god of waka poetry (below the nageshi on the first to third
panels from the south on the west side, above the nageshi on the first panel from the north on the west side), and Sumiyoshi-
taisha Shrine, which is also dedicated to the god of waka poetry (above the nageshi on the second and third panels from
the north on the west side). The Meisho Fuzoku-zu are characterized by their bird’s-eye view of places associated with
waka poetry, depicting visitors with light brushwork and soft colors that bring the scenes vividly to life. The Matsuyanagi
Shirasagi-zu (above the nageshi on two panels on the west side of the front) depicts a winter scene with snow-covered pine

trees and white herons perched on them, while the Akikusa-zu (above the nageshi on the second and third panels from the
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south on the west side) depicts autumn plants such as daffodils and bush clover.
These murals show traces of metal fittings and patching, indicating that they were originally painted for different locations

and were later reused in the Chodai-no-ma of the Ohiroma and the Kuroshoin of the Ninomaru-goten Palace.

Murals from the Imperial Palace

According to previous research, among the above-mentioned murals, the Tatsuta Fuzoku-zu and Musashino-zu in the
Ohiroma, and the Meisho Fuzoku-zu in the Kuroshoin were originally painted for the Princess’s Palace, which was part of
the Imperial Consort’s Palace within the Imperial Palace, used when a princess was born. The artists have been identified as
Kano Kunai (birth and death dates unknown) for the Tatsuta Fuzoku-zu, Kano Eihaku(1687-1764) for the Musashino-zu, and
Tsurusawa Tanzan(1658-1729) for the Meisho Fuzoku-zu.

The Imperial Consort’s Palace, including the Princess’s Palace, was built between 1715 and 1716 for Konoe
Hisako(1702-20), who became the consort of Emperor Nakamikado(1702-37) in 1716. However, in 1720, Hisako passed
away less than a month after giving birth to a son (who later became Emperor Sakuramachi). When it was decided that this
son would become Crown Prince in 1727, the Crown Prince’s Togu Palace was built over the next year, repurposing most of
the Imperial Consort’s Palace. Since there are no records of the Princess’s Palace being repurposed at this time, it is believed
that the building was dismantled and only the murals were preserved.

A document from 1885 lists murals stored in Nijo-jo Castle at that time, and since murals that appear to correspond to the
Tatsuta Fuzoku-zu and Musashino-zu in the Ohiroma and the Meisho Fuzoku-zu in the Kuroshoin are included in this list, it
is believed that they were transferred to Nijo-jo Castle at some point between 1727 and 1885. Incidentally, Konoe Hisako,
the owner of the Imperial Consort’s Palace, was from the Konoe family, one of the five regent families. Hisako’s father,
Konoe lehiro(1667-1736), and grandfather, Konoe Motohiro(1648-1722), both held important positions in the imperial court
and were particularly known for valuing connections with the shogunate. Motohiro’s daughter and Hisako’s aunt, Konoe
Hiroko(1666-1741), became the lawful wife of the sixth shogun Tokugawa lenobu(1662-1712), and after lenobu’s death,
she supported the young seventh shogun Ietsugu(1709-16) and is said to have had strong influence over the appointment
of the eighth shogun Yoshimune(1684-1758). There was talk of Hisako going to the Kanto region (Edo [now Tokyo]
and surrounding prefectures) as an adopted daughter of the shogun, but this did not materialize, and through Hiroko’s
intervention and the approval of Cloistered Emperor Reigen (1654-1732), she became Emperor Nakamikado’s consort.

By coincidence, the murals of the Princess’s Palace, which were meant to be used when Hisako gave birth to a daughter,
were eventually installed in the Ninomaru-goten Palace of Nijo-jo Castle after it changed hands from the Tokugawa
shogunate to the imperial family, and have been preserved to this day. These murals from the Imperial Palace not only
convey the court culture of the early 18th century but also represent an important collection that tells the history of Nijo-jo
Castle as an imperial villa.

(Shiho Nakano)
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